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NEW LIGHT ON PIERRE LANGLOIS (1718–1767)

Fig. 1 Commode chest-of-drawers, perhaps designed by Sir William Chambers; the
manufacture attributed to Pierre Langlois and his workshop, c. 1767, signed by his son,

‘Daniel Langlois’. Fitzwilliam Museum, Cambridge, M/F.11-1938
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Pierre Langlois was arguably the first eighteenth-century London cabinet-maker to benefit
from comprehensive scholarly scrutiny, in the five ground-breaking articles published by
the late Peter Thornton and Bill Rieder in 1971–72.1 Their analysis of his workshop
repertoire remains fundamentally unchallenged, but more has since emerged about
Langlois himself. Geoffrey Beard and the late Helena Hayward discovered that, far from
work ing into the 1780s as previously supposed, he died in 1767.2 Now further details have
come to light about his life and his family and friends — not least from research by his
descendants — which seem to warrant a summary note.3

Langlois’s French name nevertheless implies English ancestry — a distant forebear in
France marked out as an Englishman — and the repeated occurrence of the name in France,
Italy and northern Europe is suggestive of a family, or families, with roaming habits. Pierre
turns out to have been born in London on 10 September 1718, a son of Daniel and Jeanne
L’Anglois, and baptized later the same month at the French Protestant church, Les Grecs,
Soho.4 They may have been related to an older Pierre Langlois, a French Protestant who
requested British citizenship in 1708;5 and perhaps, intriguingly, to two Parisian artisans,
‘les sieurs Langlois’, father and son, active by 1691 in the Faubourg Saint-Antoine, ‘qui
imitent fort bien les meubles de la Chine’ — presumably making japanned substitutes for
Oriental lacquer.6 Still more speculative is the question of any relationship to Anthony van
Dyck’s friend and subject, the Franco-Italian engraver and art dealer François Langlois
(1589–1647).7

Of Daniel and Jeanne L’Anglois very little is known, not even his occupation or her
maiden name. Some clues may yet emerge, however, from their choice of godparents for
Pierre and his siblings, born between 1708 and 1723 and all baptized in Huguenot chapels
in Westminster.8 These included Pierre Malegne and Izaac Malegne, godfathers to Anne-
Marie (1708) and Izaac (1711) respectively, and their godmothers Mlle Marie La Tache and

2

1 Peter Thornton and William Rieder, ‘Pierre Langlois, ébéniste’, Parts 1–5, Connoisseur, Vol. 178 (December
1971), pp. 283–88; Vol. 179 (February–April 1972), pp. 105–12, 176–87, 257–65; Vol. 180 (May 1972), pp. 30–35.

2 Geoffrey Beard and Helena Hayward, ‘The interior design and furnishings of Woburn Abbey’, Apollo, 
Vol. 127 (June 1988), 393–400 (p. 397).

3 Most of the biographical data is accessible online through ancestry.co.uk, where many new discoveries have
also been posted by Langlois’s descendants, notably Michael Langlois in Brisbane, Queensland.

4 TNA: RG 4/4644 (Les Grecs, Soho): Pierre Langlois born 10 September, baptized 28 September 1718.
5 Parliamentary Archives: HL/PO/JO/10/6/147/2475, petition for naturalization by Peter Dubourdieu and

others, including Peter Langlois, with draft Act annexed. This Peter Langlois (who signed as Pierre Langlois)
was the ‘son of Peter Langlois by Mary his wife born at Montpellier in Languedoc’. Also annexed is a paper of
‘Amendments to the Bill . . .’, with the repeated note to ‘leave out Peter Langlois’. However, both Peter Langlois
and one Stephen Langlois are named on annexed certificates as having taken Holy Communion at St Martin-
in-the-Fields (Stephen Langlois’s certificate signed by another of the petitioners, Stephen Toulouse, presumably
the royal embroiderer). The final Act, which reportedly names both Peter and Stephen Langlois among those
to be naturalized, is currently missing (HL/PO/PB/1/1707/6&7An75); this might well explain the relationship
between the two Langlois petitioners.

6 Henry Havard, Dictionnaire de l’Ameublement (1910), Vol. I, cols 810–11, quoting from Le Livre Commode des
Adresses de Paris (1691 edition); cited by Thornton and Rieder, op. cit. (note 1), Part 1 (1971), p. 286 and n. 44
(who suggested that ‘les sieurs Langlois’ could have been direct ancestors of Pierre Langlois).

7 The prime version of Van Dyck’s portrait of Langlois (or ‘Chiartres’) is now co-owned by the National
Gallery and the Barber Institute; see http://www.nationalgallery.org.uk/paintings/anthony-van-dyck-
portrait-of-francois-langlois.

8 Anne-Marie, born 7 June, baptized 18 June 1708 (TNA: RG4/4609, Swallow Street Chapel); probably Izaac,
born 3 May, baptized 22 May 1711 (RG4/4550, Hungerford Chapel, Hungerford Market); Gedeon, baptized 
12 December 1714 (RG 4/4551, West Street Chapel); Pierre (see note 4); and Henry, born 10 July, baptized 
28 July 1723 (RG 4/4607, Ryder’s Court Chapel, St Anns). Izaac’s mother is named as ‘Anne’ rather than Jeanne,
but this is almost certainly a clerical error, for his godfather was clearly related to Anne-Marie’s (see below).
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‘demoiselle Courbante [or Constante?]’. Next came Gedeon (1714) and Pierre (1718) whose
godmothers Mme Susanne Rousson and Marie Rousson must likewise have been related to
each other. Gedeon had two godfathers, Gedeon Devinois(?) and Isaac Pechberty; while
Pierre’s sole godfather was Pierre Folcher. Folcher’s marriage in 1710 had been witnessed
by Daniel Langlois himself, as well as ‘antoyne roussont’ and ‘henry piioulas’ (a version of
Pijoulas or Pujolas) — suggesting a close circle of family and friends.9

Most startling, however, are the godparents named for Daniel and Jeanne’s youngest son
Henry, in 1723: ‘henry lord st. jean’ and ‘leopoldine princesse de staremberg’ (Fig. 2). The
former was presumably Henry St John (1652–1742), 4th Bart., of Lydiard Tregoze, who
succeeded to the baronetcy in 1708 and was created Viscount St John in 1716. A self-
proclaimed High Churchman, politically non-committal (unlike his sometime-Jacobite son,
the 1st Viscount Bolingbroke), he was not an obvious choice of mentor for Huguenot
refugees — although he did bequeath £50 to the French Church of the Savoy.10 He left
nothing, however, to this godson (who may of course have predeceased him).

As to Henry Langlois’s godmother, even her identity is not straightforward. Hitherto her
surname has been read as ‘de Haremberg’ and assumed to be a glottal-stopped rendering
of ‘d’Arenberg’. However, Henry was a generation older than the first recorded Léo -
poldine, Princesse d’Arenberg (1751–1812), a daughter of the 5th Duke of Arenberg.11 On
closer inspection the name written is evidently ‘de staremberg’; so the godmother was
almost certainly Marie-Léopoldine zu Löwenstein-Wertheim-Rochefort (1689–1763), who
married Konrad Sigmund, Count of Starhemberg (1689–1727) in 1710.12 He was appointed
Imperial Envoy to the Court of George I in 1720, and two of their fourteen children were
born in London — Sophie in October 1722 and George, godson of George I, in August 1724.
Evidently, therefore, Marie-Léopoldine was in London at the time of Henry Langlois’s

3

Fig. 2 The baptismal record of Henry Langlois, Pierre Langlois’s youngest brother, at Ryder’s Court Chapel,
St Anns, Westminster, 28 July 1723. The National Archives: RG 4/4607

9 TNA: RG 4/4607, Ryder’s Court Chapel, St Anns, Westminster, marriage on 7 May 1710 between Pierre
Folcher and Marie Causat or Caussat. The last witness was probably related to the Henry Pujolas who painted
and gilded George III’s state coach (DEFM, p. 721).
10 For Viscount St John see The History of Parliament: The House of Commons 1690–1715, ed. D. Hayton et al.

(2002), http://www.historyofparliamentonline.org/volume/1690-1715/member/st-john-henry-i-1652-1742
(where this bequest is mistranscribed, however, as to the ‘Free Church of the Savoy’). His will, proved 17 May
1742, is in TNA: PROB 11/718/186.
11 Kindly investigated by Isabelle Vanden Hove of the Arenberg Foundation.
12 I owe this suggestion to Matthew Winterbottom.
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baptism. As a princess by birth, she would not have attached this title to her married name,
though she might have continued to call herself Princess of Löwenstein. Such conventions
must have confused the English then no less than now, so we need not doubt that the
Countess was meant by the ‘princesse de staremberg’.13 A more puzzling circumstance —
besides the social disparity — is the fact that the Starhembergs (like the Arenbergs) were
Roman Catholics, so on the face of it surprising sponsors at a Huguenot baptism.

Pierre Langlois also had notable Swedish connections, which likewise have yet to be fully
explained. His occasional practice of signing his name ‘Petter’ (the Swedish form of Peter)
clearly attests to this, as does his evident friendship with the Anglo-Swedish cabinet-maker
Niclas Flodberg, who witnessed his daughter’s marriage to Dominique Jean in 1764.14

Petter Janson, a witness to Langlois’s son’s marriage thirteen years later, was very likely
also Swedish.15 The possibility that Sir William Chambers (1723–1796) designed four boldly
recti linear commodes made in Langlois’s workshop — two at Woburn Abbey, one at
Blenheim Palace, and one in the Fitzwilliam Museum (Fig. 1) — therefore takes on
particular significance,16 for Chambers of course was born in Gothenburg and employed by
the Swedish East India Company in the 1740s, and he maintained personal and profes -
sional links in Sweden throughout his life. Indirectly these connections tie up with the
stylistic evidence that Langlois spent some formative years in Paris, perhaps in the work -
shop of Jean-François Oeben; for another Swede, Carl Petter Dahlström, seems to have
worked for Oeben in the early 1750s, and claimed to have been his foreman before
returning to Sweden in 1755.17 It could be that Langlois’s Swedish contacts derive from a
period working with Dahlström. Or they may go back still further, for in 1696 an English
pass port was granted to a man named Langlois, ‘now . . . at Paris and . . . going into [the
King of Sweden’s] Service’ in Stockholm.18 It is tempting to wonder if this was Daniel
Langlois himself: a career that involved him somehow in court life, in Stockholm and per -
haps other European capitals, might plausibly account for his later acquaintance with
Viscount St John and the Countess of Starhemberg, as well as for Pierre’s Swedish ties.

Pierre Langlois’s training with Oeben remains hypothetical, and it is also unknown when
he first set up practice in London. His recorded activity is still confined to the scant eight

4

13 Kindly elucidated by Wolf Burchard. In the British press she was styled variously ‘the Countess of
Staremberg’ (Evening Post, 20–23 October 1722, reporting the birth of her daughter), ‘the Princess his [Count
Staremberg’s] lady’ (British Journal, June 13th 1724), and ‘the Princess of Liechtenstern [sic] his Consort’ (Daily
Journal, July 9th 1725).
14 LMA: St Pancras Old Church, P90/PAN1/050, Marriages, 20 October 1764, ‘Peter Dominique Jean’ (signed

‘Dominique Jaen [sic]’) married to ‘Mary Francoise Joseph[ine] Langlois’ (signed ‘Mari Francis Langlois’);
witnessed by ‘Petter Langlois’ and ‘Nicolaus Flodberg’. Langlois used the same form in receipting his bill for
the commode delivered to Croome Court, also in 1764 (Worcestershire Record Office, 705.73/BA 14450/207/2
(4)). See Lucy Wood, ‘Georg Haupt and his compatriots in London’, Furniture History, Vol. 50 (2014), 238–75
(pp. 262–63).
15 LMA: P90/PAN1/052; see note 30.
16 The Woburn commodes are likely to be the object of a payment in 1767 by Lord Tavistock’s executors to

‘Veuve Langlois for two comode tables of inlaid wood – £14.0.0’; and this attribution is strengthened by the
signature of Pierre’s son Daniel Langlois junior on the Fitzwilliam commode (Beard and Hayward, op. cit. (note
2), pp. 397–98, 400, fig. 9 & n. 25). Chambers’s work for Lord Tavistock and for the Duke of Marlborough (at
Blenheim) is discussed by Nicholas Goodison, ‘William Chambers’s furniture designs’, Furniture History, Vol.
26 (1990), 67–89 (pp. 70–74, 77–78 and fig. 28). Chambers was paid £10 10s. by Lord Tavistock’s executors, also
in 1767, as noted in DEFM, p. 527.
17 Marshall Lagerquist, Rokokomöbler Signerade av Ebenister och Schatullmakare i Stockholm (Stockholm, 1949), 

pp. 22–25; Thornton and Rieder, op. cit. (note 1), Part 2 (February 1972), p. 106 and n. 3; Wood, loc. cit. (note
14).
18 TNA: SP 44/346, p. 489. The pass, requested by the Swedish minister in London, was granted to two men,

‘ Langlois’ and ‘ Aubrey’ (with blank spaces for their given names).
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years from 1759 to his death. One addition to his documented work has lately been put
forward — a marquetry writing box, modest by Langlois’s standards, made for Horace
Walpole in (or before) 1760.19 One new customer can also be added to the existing tally: the
Duke of Beaufort paid Langlois £6 5s. 6d. in 1763 — a small sum that may, however, reflect
further dealings.20

In the last few years of his life Langlois clearly prospered, for his insurance cover was
raised from £400 in July 1764 to £1,100 two years later (of which £1,000 was for stock and
utensils).21 At the same time he perhaps enjoyed occasional diversions: he evidently gave
lod ging — whether as friend or landlord is uncertain — to a French quack trying his
chances in London, as revealed in this advertisement in The Public Advertiser, 4 July 1766:

A French Physician, lately arriv’d from Paris, by a particular Treatment, restores and augments the
natural Beauty of Ladies: Women of Thirty, and even forty years old, in less than three Months, are
restored to their primitive Youth; and young Ladies become more handsome and sprightly by his
Method, which is founded on the best Physical Principles. — He takes no Money till after the
Experiment, and the strictest Secrecy may be depended upon.

Letters directed for Dr. Fernel, at Mr. Peter Langlois, Cabinet-maker, in Tottenham Court Road,
near Percy-street, shall be duly answered.22

Pierre Langlois died just seven months later, aged 49. Though he had been christened
‘Pierre’ tout court, he seems to be identical with one ‘John Peter Langlois’ buried at 
St Pancras-in-the-Fields on 19 February 1767;23 and it was his widow Tracey, ‘Veuve
Langlois’, who was paid later that year for a pair of commodes supplied to the Marquis of
Tavistock — most likely the pair now at Woburn mentioned above (see note 16). Tracey
Langlois (d. 1781) continued to oversee the workshop (or at least paid the rates on the
Tottenham Court Road premises) until 1773;24 but she may have faced financial difficulties,
for two auctions of the firm’s stock were held in this period. In February 1771 Mr Hogard
& Co. announced a three-day sale ‘at their Great Room the end of Savile-row, next Conduit-
street, Hanover-square’, comprising:

5

19 Michael Snodin (ed.), Horace Walpole’s Strawberry Hill, exh. cat., Yale Centre for British Art / V&A (2009–10),
pp. 271–72 (and fig. 301), 338–39, cat. no. 264. Walpole’s initials and the date 1760 are incised discreetly on the
front, not decorated in marquetry as stated here; the marquetry features Walpole’s arms (not just his crest) and
his motto ‘Fari quae sentiat’; see http://images.library.yale.edu/strawberryhill/oneitem.asp?id=438. Equated
here with the ‘inlaid writing-box made by Langlois’ listed by Walpole in his Breakfast Room in 1774 and 1784.
Langlois is misidentified here, and in connection with the lacquer commodes from Strawberry Hill (ibid., pp.
46 (& fig. 67), 307, cat. no. 136) as Pierre Eloy (or Eloi) Langlois (1738–1805), who was a menuisier in Paris (see
Pierre Kjellberg, Le Mobilier Français du XVIIIe Siècle, revised edn (Paris, 2002, 2008), p. 518).
20 Badminton Muniment Room: household accounts, D2700/RA2/1/12, p. 24 (sum paid in week of 12–19

December 1763). Information kindly provided by Elaine Milsom, Badminton Archivist.
21 LMA: Sun Fire Insurance policy registers, MS 11936: 5 July 1764, policy no. 210679, £270 for household

goods and stock in his house in Tottenham Court Road, near Windmill Street, £30 for wearing apparel, and
£100 for stock and utensils in his workshop behind the house; 5 July 1766, policy no. 234952, covering £50 for
household goods, £800 for stock and utensils in his house, £50 for wearing apparel, and £200 for stock and
utensils in his workshop. Glass was excluded, presumably as being too risky to insure. The 1766 policy is
transcribed in full by Thornton and Rieder, op. cit. (note 1), Part 1 (1971), p. 286 and n. 33.
22 The Public Advertiser, London, 4 July 1766.
23 LMA: P90/PAN1/005, St Pancras Old Church, Burials, 19 February 1767, ‘John Peter Langlois’. Could he

have taken the name John (Jean) as a tribute to his mother Jeanne?
24 Holborn Local Studies Library: P/PN2/PA, St Pancras paving rate books (which start in 1773). ‘Peter

Langlois’ (her son) is entered in the assessments for 1774–81, and Dominique Jean (her son-in-law) for 1782–86;
by 1787 the house was empty. Tracey Langlois was buried at St Pancras Old Church on 1 April 1781 (LMA:
P90/PAN1/006).
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A Great variety of fine pieces of cabinet-work, being some of the principal performances of that
most ingenious workman Mr PETER LANGLOIS, cabinet-maker, in Tottenham-court-road, and
are removed for the conveniency of sale; consisting of commodes, beaufets, writing and dressing
tables, and various other articles of the most exquisite workmanship, beautifully inlaid with
various sorts of wood, brass, tortoishell, &c. and richly embellished with grand chased ornaments
in an elegant taste, and fit to furnish the most superb apartments.

N.B. About forty dozen of fine old Madeira wine, warranted genuine.

Also included ‘in the above sale of Mr. Peter Langlois’ was ‘Some elegant houshold furni -
ture’, including upholstery, cabinet pieces, carpets (Turkey, Axminster and Wilton), two
sedan chairs, three harpsichords, a chamber organ and some ‘very fine ornamental china of
the first magnitude’; by implication this part of the sale was not workshop stock, but it is
not quite clear even whether it was all Langlois property.25

Almost exactly a year later Mr Prestage announced a two-day sale of further stock, at a
near-identical address (possibly the same sale room):

Some most elegant and matchless Pieces of inlaid work, begun by that famous artist Mr. Peter
Langlois, and finished since his decease. In this sale will be exhibited a pleasing variety of com -
modes, cabinets, dressing-tables &c. inlaid in the most elegant taste, and richly ornamented with
or molu; particularly a cabinet, in the antique taste, finely vaneered with japan; a most beautiful
lady’s secretary, &c. several pieces of the or molu, in figures, candle branches, and various other
orna ments, an elegant clock, inlaid with tortoiseshell, by Rimbault,26 models of ships, &c. &c. At
the same time will be sold, some elegant houshold furniture, china, &c. likewise rich Burgundy and
Madeira wines, samples of which then [sic] as above.27

Whether the ship models were a family collection or a hitherto unknown aspect of the
firm’s repertoire is unknown. Catalogues were advertised for both sales, but neither has so
far been traced.

At around the same time, in 1771, Daniel Langlois junior (Pierre and Tracey’s son) was
apprenticed to the bronze-founder Dominique Jean (c. 1736–1812), his own brother-in-
law.28 At his death in 1816 he was named Peter Daniel Langlois, his age given as 66.29 So
he had been born in 1749 or 1750 (perhaps abroad since his baptism is untraced) and was
21 or 22 at the time of his apprenticeship.30 This at last sets in context his concealed signa -
ture, ‘Daniel Langlois’, on the Fitzwilliam commode, which has long perplexed historians:

6

25 The Gazetteer and New Daily Advertiser, Friday 15 February 1771 (repeated Monday 18 February); Public
Advertiser, Saturday 16 February 1771. The sale was to take place on 18–20 February 1771.
26 The noted Huguenot clockmaker Stephen Rimbault (fl. 1744–88), celebrated as Johan Zoffany’s first

employer; his portrait by Zoffany, dated 1764, is in the Tate Gallery.
27 The Gazetteer and New Daily Advertiser, Thursday 20 February 1772 (following a preliminary notice on Friday

14 February), the sale to take place on 24–25 February.
28 TNA: IR 1/27, f. 26v, duty paid 22 June 1771 on indenture of Daniel Langlois to ‘Dominique Jean of Saint

Pancras in Middlesex Water Gilder &c’. See also ‘Daniel Langlois’, shorter notice in Furniture History, Vol. 1
(1965), pp. 62–63 (and pl. XII). ‘Dominick Jean’ died in St Marylebone on 1 December 1812, aged 76, and was
buried on 6 December at St Pancras Old Church (LMA: P90/PAN1/175).
29 LMA: P90/PAN1/179, St Pancras Old Church, Burials, 4 February 1816.
30 The baptism of his two sisters is also untraced, but they were both married at St Pancras Old Church —

Mary Françoise in 1764, to Dominique Jean (see note 14), and Jane Alexander to Charles Peret on 14 October
1776, witnessed by Dominique Jean and Michael Livoir(?) (LMA: P90/PAN1/052). Peter Daniel Langlois’s
marriage to Sarah Wynn, on 24 April 1777, was witnessed by his brother-in-law Charles Peret and by Petter
Janson, probably another Swede (ibid.). However, Janson (or Jansson) is a distinctly rural name in Sweden;
anyone with metropolitan ambitions would normally have adopted a more urban name as well or instead
(information from Lars Ljungström).
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he presumably learnt the cabinet-making trade with his father in the 1760s, and would have
been about 18, not a child, when he signed this commode (c. 1767). In 1771 he evidently
chose to learn the bronze-working trade as well, but this did not debar him from directing
the family business. From 1774 to 1781 the rates on 39 Tottenham Court Road were paid in
his name — but now going as ‘Peter Langlois’ (see note 24). And in 1777 he married, now
using both given names (see note 30). This and his burial record reveal that ‘Daniel’ and
‘Peter’ (junior) were one and the same man.

Finally, mention should be made of another Langlois family, sometimes associated with
this one but apparently not related (or not at all closely). Peter Langlois (1673?–1737), a
British (Huguenot) merchant in Leghorn from the late 1690s,31 has been equated with the
Peter or Pierre Langlois who requested British naturalization in 1708, mentioned above, but
this is by no means certain.32 The merchant has no clear, or even implicit, connection with
the family of Daniel and Jeanne Langlois. He died in Leghorn in 1737 leaving a daughter
Elizabeth (later Lefroy) and four sons, including Christopher (1715–1790) and John Peter
(1716–1789), his successors in business, and Benjamin (1727–1802) who became a prominent
British politician.33 Benjamin Langlois had financial and other dealings with Pierre’s patron
the 4th Duke of Bedford, but this is probably coincidental.34 Others named Langlois were
based in Amsterdam and had property in Britain, but they too seem to have been a different
family.35
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Abbreviations
DEFM Dictionary of English Furniture Makers 1660–1840, ed. Geoffrey Beard and 

Christopher Gilbert (Leeds and London, 1986)
LMA London Metropolitan Archives, Clerkenwell
TNA The National Archives, Public Record Office, Kew

7

31 Identified in his will (TNA: PROB 11/686/386, proved 1737) as ‘Mr Peter Son of the late Peter Langlois a
British Merchant Settled in this City and Place for upwards of [38] years’ (this description evidently referring
to the testator, not his father). He was married in London on 17 November 1712, to Judith de Monceau La
Melonniere (TNA: RG 4/4641); and her brother Anthony Lamelloniere Esq is named his will.
32 Both the petitioner for naturalization and the merchant were ‘son of Peter Langlois’ (see notes 5 and 31), so

on this evidence could be the same man. However, the merchant prescribed in his will (see note 31) that his
tomb should be engraved ‘Peter Langlois an English man born . . .’, so was not (on the face of it) a naturalized
citizen. The researcher Michael Langlois (see note 3) equates the two men as one, also reporting that he (or at
least the merchant) joined the British army in 1692, but on unstated evidence.
33 TNA: PROB 11/686/386 (see note 31); also PROB 11/1176/116 (will of John Peter Langlois, proved 1789);

PROB 11/1187/267 (will of Christopher Langlois, 1790); PROB 11/1384/98 (will of Benjamin Langlois, 1802).
See also The History of Parliament: the House of Commons 1754–1790, ed. L. Namier, J. Brooke (1964),
http://www.historyofparliamentonline.org/volume/1754-1790/member/langlois-benjamin-1727-1802.
34 Beard and Hayward, op. cit. (note 2), p. 400, n. 26; for the Duke’s patronage of Pierre Langlois, ibid., p. 396.
35 Several wills in this family were translated out of ‘Low Dutch’ and proved in London, 1740–83 (TNA: PROB

11/706/286; PROB 11/865/341; PROB 11/922/195; PROB 11/957/347; PROB 11/1107/237). In 1695 passports
had been granted to ‘Lewis Langloo’s’ and to ‘Isaac Langlois, a French protestant’, to go to Holland via
Gravesend or Harwich (TNA: SP 44/344, pp. 336, 350).
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MAJOR ACCESSIONS TO REPOSITORIES IN 2103 RELATING 
TO FURNITURE AND INTERIOR DESIGN

local
Derbyshire Record Office: National Association of Decorative and Fine Arts Societies,
Cavendish Society: furnishing reports on St Leonard’s, Monyash 2012 (D5625)
Isle of Wight Record Office: National Association of Decorative and Fine Arts Societies,
Isle of Wight: record of church furnishings for St Olave, Gatcombe 2012 (2013/004)
Leicestershire, Leicester and Rutland, Record Office: Peter Van de Waals, cabinet maker
and joiner, Chalford: drawings with notes by Sir George Trevelyan c. 1930–1969 (DE8532);
National Association of Decorative and Fine Arts Societies, Rutland: record of church furni -
shings at Tixover parish church, Leicestershire 2009–11 (DE8545)
Medway Archives and Local Studies Centre: Amalgamated Society of Carpenters and
Joiners, Chatham branch: membership registers 1920–66 (DE1241); Amalgamated Society of
Carpenters and Joiners, Rochester branch: membership register 1866–1912 (DE1245)
Nottinghamshire Archives: FW Gray & Co Ltd, drapers, Nottingham: papers including
correspondence and financial records 1947–91 (8491)
Shropshire Archives: Thomas Graty & Sons, joiners and cabinet makers, Daybook 1913–62
(acc 8723)
Suffolk Record Office, Ipswich Branch: Green & Hatfield, antique dealers, Ipswich: corres -
pondence, orders and miscellaneous papers 1936–37 (HC499)

8

SUBSCRIPTIONS 2014–15 YEAR

Subscriptions are now due from members, including institutional members, who
pay annually by cheque, bank transfer or credit/debit card. Members who have
already paid by banker’s standing order on 1 July 2014 should ignore this notice. Gift
Aid Declarations are of great value to the Society in enhancing our funds, at no cost
to you or forward obligation, and UK tax payers who have not already provided one
are requested to do so now. If you are uncertain whether your 2014–15 subscription
has been paid please contact the Membership Secretary. A remittance form is
provided for your convenience.

In error the subscription remittance forms were included in the dispatch of the
August Newsletter. Those members who have already responded by forwarding
their subscriptions to the Membership Secretary should ignore the form enclosed
with this Newsletter and accept our apologies for any confusion.   

Institutions that require an official order to be issued before payment is made
should ensure that this is completed NOW and sent to the Membership Secretary so
that an invoice can be sent to your accounts department.
LIFE MEMBERSHIP
Council has decided to discontinue the life membership scheme due to low take-up
in recent years. Existing life memberships will continue to be honoured.
MEMBERSHIP SECRETARY: Dr Brian Austen, 1 Mercedes Cottages, St John’s Road,
Haywards Heath, West Sussex RH16 4EH Tel/fax 01444 413845
Email: brian.austen@zen.co.uk OR membership@furniturehistorysociety.org
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ANNOUNCEMENTS

A Major Benefaction for the Society

Our longstanding Member, Graham Samuel Gadd, and his wife, Hilda Colquhoun Gadd,
have generously given the Furniture History Society a property in Twickenham. Mr and
Mrs Gadd will continue to reside there with a lease from the Society, but when, eventually
the property becomes vacant, it will be sold and the proceeds used to establish a fund to be
known as the Hilda Colquhoun Gadd Fund. The Fund’s income will be used by the Society
for the publication of historical documents intended to advance the study of history of
furni ture and of/bibliographies, indices or other tools intended to improve access to
periodi cal or other historical literature, in whatever media the Society deems best. Mr and
Mrs Gadd have kindly agreed that they will be responsible for the upkeep of the property
during their lifetimes.

Irène Logan (1922–2014)

Members will be sorry to hear of the death on 26 June of Irène Logan, widow of Sir Donald
Logan (1917–2009). After Donald’s retirement from the diplomatic service in 1977, she and
he became active members of the Society. On foreign trips they were always well prepared
on the intricacies of foreign dynasties and changes of regimes and borders and happy to
share their knowledge. Irène, born in Peking,the daughter of a Belgian diplomat who
served as ambassador to Berlin and Madrid in the 1930s, was multi-lingual and had many
international contacts, which she was happy to use in the Society’s interest, arranging, for
example, an improvised visit by a small group to the very private Palais Stoclet in Brussels.
And from 1986 to 1996 she acted as assistant to the then Book Review Editor, soliciting
publica tions, dispatching them to reviewers and sending the resultant reviews to
publishers, an unsung but important service to the Society.

S. S. J.

FUTURE SOCIETY EVENTS

bookings

For places on visits please apply to the Events Secretary, Anne-Marie Bannister, Bricket
House, 90 Mount Pleasant Lane, Bricket Wood, St Albans, Herts, AL2 3XD (Tel: 07775
907390) enclosing a separate cheque and separate stamped addressed A5 envelope for each
event using the enclosed booking form. Where possible, joining instructions will be
despatched by email so please remember to provide your email address if you have one.
There is no need to send a SAE if you provide a clearly written email address.

Applications should only be made by members who intend to take part in the whole
programme. No one can apply for more than one place unless they hold a joint member -
ship, and each applicant should be identified by name. If you wish to be placed on the
waiting list, please enclose a telephone number and email address where you can be
reached. Please note that a closing date for applications for all visits is printed in the
Newsletter. Applications made after the closing date will be accepted only if space is still
avail able. Members are reminded that places are not allocated on a first come, first served
basis, but that all applications are equally considered following the closing date.
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There is now an extra facility on the website for members to express interest in certain
events and then pay, if assigned a place after the closing date (where this is applicable).
This is now possible for all day events. If you have no online facility or are uneasy about
using this new procedure, please just use the blue form as usual, or simply email events@
furniturehistorysociety.org

cancellations
Please note that no refunds will be given for cancellations for events costing £10.00 or less.
In all other cases, cancellations will be accepted up to seven days before the date of a visit,
but refunds will be subject to a £10.00 deduction for administrative costs. Please also note
that in the rare instances where members have promised to pay on the day of the visit, they
will still be charged the full amount of the day if cancelling less than seven days before the
visit or if they simply fail to attend. This is necessary as the Society has normally paid in
advance for a certain number of members to take part in e.g. tour/lunch. Separate arrange -
ments are made for study weekends and foreign tours and terms are clearly stated on the
printed details in each case

Annual General Meeting and Works in Progress Talks
Saturday 22 November 2014, 11.00 am – 4.30 pm approx

Nostell Priory, Doncaster Rd, Nostell, Wakefield, West Yorkshire WF4 1QE

We will celebrate the 50th anniversary of the FHS at Nostell Priory, Wakefield, a property
of the National Trust. The roots of the Society lay in the energy and enthusiasm of two
young scholars based in Yorkshire, so it is appropriate that we return there for this anni -
versary.

The Annual General Meeting for the year ending 30 June 2014 will start at 11.00 am
(coffee from 10.30 am).

Roger Carr-Whitworth, National Trust Officer for Yorkshire and NE Region will give a
presenta tion entitled, ‘Securing the Future of a Great House and its Collections: develop -
ments at Nostell Priory 1986–2014’. This will cover the the Trust’s securing of the collection
in the house, the park and the stables between 1986 (when the first contents, including the
Chippendale furniture, came to the Trust) and the present day. None of this was included
with the original acquisition of the house by the Trust in the 1950s.

Elizabeth Jamieson, Dr Eleanor Quince and Dr Mark Westgarth will give a joint talk on
the Antique Dealers Project; a thirty-month academic research project funded by the AHRC
and based at the Univer sity of Leeds. A research team led by Dr Westgarth is investigating
the history of the British Antiques Trade in the Twentieth century. The project — which is
the first of its kind — will enhance our understanding of the subject and of the evolving
nature and importance of the antique dealer over the last 100 years. Results will include a
website, a conference, a book and an archive for future research.

Admission to the AGM is free but all members wishing to attend should notify the
Events Secretary at least 7 days in advance. Tickets for a hot buffet lunch with a glass of
wine followed a private tour of the Priory with special access to the furniture are available
at a cost of £30 per head. Tickets should be booked with the Events Secretary at least seven
days in advance.

The Society has negotiated special rates for FHS members with the following two hotels,
both of which are 10–20 minutes by taxi from Nostell Priory and 15 minutes by taxi from
Wakefield Westgate Railway station:
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Best Western Hotel Saint Pierre
Tel. (01924) 255596
www.bw-hotelstpierre.co.uk
Quote Furniture History Society when booking

Waterton Park Hotel, Watton WF2 6PW
Tel. (01924) 257911
www.watertonparkhotel.co.uk
Quote NOST when booking

Taxi transport is available from Wakefield Westgate station to Nostell Priory, meeting the
10.08 hrs arrival from London on Saturday morning, departing King’s Cross at 08.03 and
returning to catch the 17.18 hrs London train. This can be arranged at an approximate cost
of £5 per head, per journey, but must be pre-booked via the Events Secretary, not later than
seven days before the event.

The 39th Annual Symposium of the Furniture History Society
The Wallace Collection, Hertford House, Manchester Square, London W1

Saturday 28 March 2015, 10.00 am – 5.00 pm

Rustic Ornaments: the history of garden seating
The study of furniture made for use in gardens tends to fall between the disciplines of
furniture history and garden history. The speakers gathered for this day will explore the
variety of design for rest and relaxation outside, from the classical period to the late-
nineteenth century. Many designs were made by architects, but others arose from the
adaptation or exploitation of new materials. By the nineteenth century the variety of forms
of garden furniture had proliferated, providing for the millions of new leisure gardeners in
cities and suburbs. The day will be chaired by Todd Longstaffe-Gowan, garden historian
and garden designer.

10.00–10.25 am Registration and coffee
10.25–10.30 am Welcome by Christopher Rowell
10.30–10.40 am Introduction by Todd Longstaffe-Gowan

Edward Hollis
The Seat of Inspiration: Garden Furniture in Ancient Rome
Lisa White
Of Chinoiserie, Darly and the Root of the Matter
Bob Parrott
The Windsor Chair in the Garden
George Carter
Architects’ Designs for Garden Seats 1800–1830

12.40–1.00 pm Q&A
1.00–2.00 pm Lunch

David Adshead
Seventeenth-Century Garden Furniture
John Powell
The Coalbrookdale Connection
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Kate Hay
Infinite Variety: Victorian Ingenuity in the Design of Garden Seating
John Danzer
The Adirondack Chair

4.00–4.20 pm Q&A
4.20–4.30 pm Summing up
4.30–4.35 pm Thanks
4.35–5.00 pm Tea

Tickets must be purchased in advance and early booking is recommended.

Fee: £45 for FHS members/£35 for FHS student members.

All non-members £55, reduced to £50 if taking out FHS membership when booking.

Ticket price includes morning coffee and afternoon tea.

A light lunch will be available for FHS members in the Meeting Room at the Wallace
Collection at a cost of £20 to include a glass of wine. Tickets for lunch must be purchased
at least 7 days in advance from the Events Secretary. The Wallace Collections Restaurant
will be open for bookings (Tel: 0207 563 905) and there are plenty of local cafes/restaurants.

Booking online for members is via the FHS website: www.furniturehistorysociety.org.

Alternatively, please contact the Events Secretary using the standard blue form/cheque
procedure or via email: events@furniturehistorysociety.org or tel. 07775907390.

Study Weekend to York and North Yorkshire

Friday 24 April – Sunday 26 April 2015

Led by Adam Bowett, this weekend will include private visits to Newby Hall with its
Adam designed tapestry room furnished by Thomas Chippendale and Norton Conyers,
winners of the 2014 HHA/Sotheby’s Restorations Award. Fairfax House, the York town -
 house design by Carr of York and home to the Noel Terry collection of furniture will also
be visited. Further details to be confirmed.

Please register your interest via the Events Secretary or via the website.

OCCASIONAL VISITS

Day Visits to the Louvre and Versailles,  France

Monday 24 and Tuesday 25 November 2014

These visits were advertised in the August 2014 Newsletter and are now fully subscribed
and have waiting lists.

Visit to the Home of Christopher Claxton Stephens,  Clapham,
London SW4

Tuesday 20 January 2015, 6.30 pm – 8.30 pm
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Although tens of thousands of middle class terraced houses were built in London at the end
of the nineteenth century, very few have retained their character and fittings through
changes in fashion and the ravages of time. This is a rare chance to see the colourful 
and atmospheric interiors of such an 1890s house in Clapham, along with the collection 
of antique, arts and crafts and contemporary furnishings which the owners have built up
over twenty years. There will be an introductory talk and tour, ending up with a glass of
wine.

£20 Limit: 16 members

Closing date for applications: Friday 12 December 2014

Blythe House,  23 Blythe Road, London W14 0QX
Thursday 26 February 2015, 2.00 pm for 2.15 pm start – 4.15 pm

Building on the Society’s 2014 symposium on carving, this visit will explore the subject
further. Sarah Medlam and curators from the Furniture Department will be selecting pieces
from the full range of the V&A’s stored collections. It will give participants the chance to
examine closely different techniques of carving, both large and small scale, across four
centuries.

£25 Limit: 20 members

Closing date for applications Friday 23 January 2015

Mallett Antiques,  Ely House, 37 Dover Street, London W1S 4NJ
Friday 6 March 2015 10.30 am for 11.00 am – 1.00 pm tour

Visit to Showrooms in 150th anniversary year.

Mallett's has long been one of the leading antique dealers in London. This year the firm
celebrates its 150th anniversary and staff have invited members of the Furniture History
Society to a morning visit to study some of the finest pieces from its current holdings.

£25.00 including tea/coffee Limit: 20 members

Closing date for applications Friday 23 January 2015

OVERSEAS EVENTS

Chicago
Wednesday 21 – Saturday 24 May 2015

Ireland on a World Stage 1690 –1840 at the Art Institute of Chicago will be the first exhibition
to concentrate on Irish decorative arts of the eighteenth century. Three hundred objects of
furniture, metalwork, glass and textiles as well as paintings, sculpture and architecture will
be shown. A ‘long weekend’ private visit to the exhibition is planned for the spring of 2015
and will also include visits to private and public collections in and around Chicago, includ -
ing that of Mr John Bryan.

To register your interest, please contact the Events Secretary directly or via the website.
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GRANT-ASSISTED EVENTS

Visit to TEFAF Maastricht,  Thursday 19 March evening – Saturday 21
March evening 2015

Junior curators based at UK museums or houses are invited to apply for this two night visit
to the TEFAF Maastricht Fair, which has the highest quality international displays of
furniture and objects. The group will be led by a specialist and the cost of travel to/from
London/Maastricht and all expenses during the visit are generously being sponsored by
the Oliver Ford Trust. For an application form please apply to the FHS Grants Secretary,
email grants@furniturehistorysociety.org and applicants will need to show that this visit
can offer them beneficial professional development in the field of history of furniture.

Closing date for applications, 10 December 2014.

OTHER NOTICES AND EVENTS

Please note that the following are not organised by the Furniture History Society.
Information/booking instructions can be found under individual items.

Two Day Seminar to Celebrate the Life and Work of Sir
Robert Lorimer,  Architect

Tuesday 11 – Wednesday 12 November 2014

The Playfair Library, Old College, University of Edinburgh

The newly formed Lorimer Society, which is working collaboratively with other organisa -
tions to celebrate this notable Scottish architect’s work, will host a two-day seminar at Edin -
burgh University. Key speakers will locate Robert Lorimer’s work in the Arts and Crafts
tradition; will speak about his relationship with his craftsmen, his long commitment to our
Scottish National War Memorial, his domestic architecture and the many restora tions he
undertook.

Contact for further information: Professor Aline-Wendy Dunlop, MBE, Honorary
Secretary, The Lorimer Society, email: a.w.a.dunlop@strath.ac.uk

Destruction of the English Country House Study Day

Saturday 15 November 2014 10.00–17.00

The Lydia & Manfred Gorvy Lecture Theatre, V&A Museum

In conjunction with SAVE Britain’s Heritage, Sir Roy Strong, Marcus Binney, Tim Knox,
John Harris, Simon Jervis, John Goodall and other speakers will lead a study day devoted
to exploring the legacy of the V&A’s celebrated 1974 exhibition, The Destruction of the
English Country House. As the fascination with historic houses continues to grow, this event
high lights the challenges and possible solutions associated with saving the country’s
ancient homes.

£45, £35 concessions, £15 students

For tickets please email bookings.office@vam.ac.uk or book via the V&A website
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Christopher Gilbert Memorial Lecture:  A Day at Home in
Early Modern England

Saturday 29 November 2014, 2.30pm

Geffrye Museum, Kingsland Rd, Shoreditch, London

Dr Catherine Richardson is Reader in Renaissance Studies at the University of Kent; she
and Tara Hamling, Senior Lecturer in Early Modern History and Fellow of the Shakespeare
Institute at the University of Birmingham, have a book forthcoming with Yale University
Press about how the ‘middling sort’ used domestic spaces and objects in early modern
England. They are developing new methods for the study of domestic material culture and
examining how people experienced their living spaces and furnishings — from bed cham -
bers and warming pans to apostle spoons and chamber pots. Their research will be the sub -
ject of her lecture.

£12 for non-members of the Regional Furniture Society

V&A and CMG to Create First Design Museum in China

This July the V&A and China Merchant’s Group (CMG) have signed a collaboration
agreement to support CMG’s ambitious plan to develop the first major museum of design
in China. The pioneering partnership aims to promote Chinese design to an international
audience as well as present the best international design in China. The new museum is
planned to open at the end of 2016 in the Shekou district of Shenzhen, the city designated
by UNESCO as the city of design and creative industries. The development is led by China
Merchants Property Development Co. Ltd, the real estate flagship of CMG who have
commis sioned a new museum building designed by renowned Japanese architecture
studio Maki, led by Fumihiko Maki. The V&A will have a dedicated gallery within the
Shekou Museum to show curated displays from its collections as well as space to present
major V&A exhibitions. The V&A will play an advisory role in helping the Shekou Museum
develop its own collections and provide training for Shekou Museum’s senior management
team.

Korea Furniture Museum, Seol

Having unofficially opened in 2008 after fourteen years of construction of the ten exquisite
hanok structures and set in beautifully landscaped gardens, this private museum is the
brain child of Chyung-Mi-sook, a former professor at Yonsei University and a collector who
personally amassed the museum’s two thousand pieces of Joseon Dynasty furniture over
the past five decades. As Korean traditional living culture was sedentary, most of the furni -
ture was built to be small and low, for example, the cabinets fit perfectly beneath the
papered wooden windows of the Museum’s women’s quarters. The Museum is now fully
open for guided tours by appointment, www.kofum.com; email contact@kofum.com.

New V&A Museum to Open in Dundee

The V&A Museum of Design Dundee will be an international centre for design, housed in
a world-class building at the heart of Dundee’s revitalised waterfront. Opening in 2017, it
will host major exhibitions and will also celebrate Scotland’s internationally significant
design heritage in its Scottish Design Galleries. It will bring the V&A’s collections and
exhibi tions to a wider national audience, will inspire and promote contemporary talent,
and will encourage design innovation for the future.
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BOOK REVIEWS

Suggestions for future reviews and publishers’ review copies should be sent to Simon
Swynfen Jervis, 45 Bedford Gardens, London W8 7EF, tel. 020 7727 8739. email
ss.jervis@btopenworld.com

Oliver S. Heal, Sir Ambrose Heal and the Heal Cabinet Factory 1897–1939, Oblong Creative Ltd,
Wetherby, 2014, 396 pp., 586 illus., ISBN 978-0-9575992-3-9. £58

This large, handsome and lavishly illustrated book pays full justice to Oliver S. Heal’s many
years of research into his family’s firm. The book highlights in particular the contribution
made by the author’s grandfather, Sir Ambrose Heal, to the company’s history. Sir
Ambrose Heal (1872–1959) transformed the family furnishing business, Heal’s of Totten -
ham Court Road, London, turning it into a firm famous for supplying well-designed and
well-made furniture and furnishings to the middle classes. In the first part of the book,
‘Ambrose Heal — The Man’, the author brings Sir Ambrose to life by exploring the influ -
ences on his early years and reproducing many photographs and other material from the
family archives. The second part, ‘Retail is Detail’, examines the development of the firm in
the context of London furniture retailing in the nineteenth and twentieth centuries.

Part three, ‘The Cabinet Factory’, focuses on many aspects of the firm’s production, by
examining the labels used by Heal’s; the design characteristics of furniture designed by Sir
Ambrose; and the timbers, methods of construction and finishes employed. There follows
a detailed and profusely illustrated run of chapters covering the cabinet factory’s output
from 1895–1903, the ‘mature’ designs of 1904–1917, followed by the output during the
‘Post-War Doldrums’ of 1918–29 and the 1930s. Then a particularly interesting chapter
exam ines Heal’s key suppliers, providing information about firms such as those of
Frederick Cooke and James Cox & Co. The useful appendices include a list of Heal’s furni -
ture exhibited at Arts & Crafts exhibitions between 1899 and 1938.

From the foregoing it will be clear that this book is indispensable for anyone interested
in furniture history during the period examined, and that it places Heal’s on a firm
scholarly footing. In support of this latter aspect, it might be added that the important oak
chair discussed and illustrated on p. 80, which was designed in 1901 by Sir Ambrose for the
short-lived Joan Drummond Angus (1896–1908) — whose sister Christine (later the second
Mrs Walter Sickert) probably designed the inlaid decoration — has recently been acquired
from the Angus family by the V&A Museum of Childhood.

Max Donnelly

Pierre Arizzoli-Clémentel, Emilio Terry 1890–1969, Architecte et décorateur, Paris (Gourcuff
Gradenigo), 2013, 304 pp., 13 col., 58 b. & w. illus., ISBN 978-2-35340-165-9. 69 Euros.

During the April 1986 Paris visit, FHS members made an excursion to the Château de
Groussay, east of Versailles, transformed and embellished by and for Charles de Beistegui
(1895–1970), heir to an immense Mexican fortune, and dispersed in a Sotheby’s sale in 1999.
Its theatre, Palladian bridge and pyramid were all designed by Emilio Terry (1890–1969),
one of Beistegui’s ‘Committee of Taste’ along with Vicomte Charles de Noailles (1891–1981)
and the Russian-born Alexandre Sérébriakoff (1907–84), whose unloveable watercolours
are invaluable records of much rich décor. Terry himself, part-heir to Cuban sugar and
banking wealth, was a member of that cosmopolitan post-Proustian galère which corus -
cated in the limelight of Beistegui’s famous Palazzo Labia ball in 1951; in 1986 the Society
was entertained at the Hôtel Lambert by a survivor, the Baron de Redé (1922–2004).
Brought up at Chenonceau and with a sister married to a brother of Boni de Castellane
(1867–1932) Terry took over the latter’s flat in the Place du Palais-Bourbon in 1914 and in
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1934 bought the Castellanes’ Château Rochecotte in Touraine. He was active as an architect
and designer from about 1920: eventually he filled over four hundred sketch-books with
innumerable designs, mainly unexecuted.

Arizzoli-Clémentel, first interested in Terry in 1971, was able to explore the riches of this
archive, which includes models and much besides, when appointed director of the Musée
des Arts Décoratifs in 1996, and then published a booklet on Terry’s carpet designs. His
Emilio Terry suffers from the copyright-holders’ inexplicable refusal to allow designs to be
reproduced: its illustrations comprise watercolour evocations of Terry’s works by Laurent
de Commines, a run of mainly social — and amusing — snapshots, and a photographic
survey of Rochecotte in the 1950s. But the book, handsomely produced, displays such
mastery of the sources and of Terry’s milieu — buttressed by appendices including a
reprint ing of the 1972 sale catalogue of his remarkable library, a survey of his sketchbooks,
a detailed list of his models, and an account of unexecuted projects and of Terry’s own
dwellings — that it becomes an indispensable authority. Terry’s designs were first
exhibited in Paris in 1933 and then by MoMA in New York in Fantastic Art, Dada and
Surrealism (1936), alongside Postman Cheval and Schwitters, and again in Paris in 1948, at
the Musée d’Art Moderne. Just before his death Marcel Nahmias, a client and friend
published a tribute Recueil des projets, with a chapter on ornaments, mainly furniture of
which Terry was indeed a prolific designer, usually in a late neo-classical or ‘Louis XVII’
mode, but often with touches of fantasy. From about 1931 he collaborated closely with the
more Modernist Jean-Michel Frank. In another appendix Arizzoli-Clémentel analyses
twelve notable furniture designs or themes, but throughout there are illuminating details,
including Terry’s unexpected meeting with Mario Praz, then working not on interior
decoration but towards The Romantic Agony (1930), on a trip to Cuba in 1924.

Simon Swynfen Jervis

Martin Chapman et al., The salon doré from the hotel de la Trémoille, San Francisco (Fine Arts
Museums of San Francisco), 2014, XII + 124 pp., 108 col., 12 b. & w. illus. ISBN 978-0-
88401-142-2. $29.95

This lavish publication describes the reinstallation of the main salon from the hotel de la
Trémoille on Rue Saint-Dominique in Paris in the Legion of Honor Museum in San
Francisco. The panelling of this room, a fine example of mature neo-classical taste, dates
from 1781–82. Given to the Museum by Richard Rheem in 1959, it was exhibited at the
Legion of Honor in two consecutive displays and has now been installed in its third guise.

Period rooms are particularly closely connected with the display of French furniture of
the ancien régime in American museums. The prime examples are the Wrightsman Galleries
in the Metropolitan Museum of Art, first installed from the 1960s onwards and refashioned
in 2007, and a number of French rooms in the Frick Collection — a reminder that such
rooms in private houses generally preceded museum ones. The spell cast by these glamor -
ous galleries in New York, and by more isolated ones such as the Hamilton Rice room in
Philadelphia, has proved so irresistible that even in the Getty Museum in Los Angeles,
opened in 1997, the pavilion designed by Richard Meier for the French decorative arts was
fitted, seemingly quite incongruously, with a series of panelled rooms to set off the
splendid collections.

That is the traditional function, one might even say the definition, of a period room: old
panelling, removed from its original setting and reinstalled as a room to display a collection
of furnishings of more or less the same date and geographical origin, in order to achieve a
‘period feel’. In San Francisco, however, the process has been reversed. The panelling has
become the focus of the enterprise, and the installation and furnishing campaign were
aimed at recreating the original appearance of this particular room.
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The original location of the room was only identified fairly recently by the late Bruno
Pons; this has allowed its exact proportions to be reinstated, a process that necessitated the
production of a considerable amount of reconstructed elements, including much carved
detail. None of the furniture from the room is known to survive, but an inventory compiled
in 1790 — transcribed and translated in the book — records what was in it, whereas further
sources contain additional information on the appearance of individual pieces. Apart from
two side-tables, there was only seat furniture. Some chairs deemed suitable for the room
were already in the Museum’s collection, others were expressly acquired on the art market,
and a number of copies were produced, including a settee, not copied from an existing
model but based on a bergère. This slightly disparate assembly was unified by being
upholstered by Xavier Bonnet in a blue-and-white silk lampas. Its colours are the ones
mentioned in the inventory, and the pattern was copied from an old length of silk at Lyon.
A side-table, somewhat reminiscent of the detailed description of the original one, was also
purchased, and a second, slightly wider one newly made. A similar approach was adopted
for the gilt-bronze wall-lights and clock; in addition, the Museum’s celebrated garniture of
blue Sèvres vases with encrusté decoration was placed on the chimneypiece which origin -
ally held three blue-and-white and gilded porcelain vases, doubtless much less sumptuous.

This unprecedented enterprise is described in detail by a number of authors, including
Martin Chapman who was in charge of it, and Xavier Bonnet who provides a fascinating
account, based on archival sources, of the furnishings installed in the hôtel de la Trémoille
in the early 1780s, when the eponymous duc and duchesse took up residence there.

The latter description unwittingly raises a central question which is not addressed in the
book: what is the purpose of such a reconstruction, inevitably flawed however painstaking
its preparation and execution, out of the context of the room’s original setting? Various
authors stress the importance of aspects of use and etiquette for the understanding of a
room such as this one, and Bonnet’s evocation of the hôtel de la Trémoille describes the
position of the salon within the sequence of rooms. He rightly draws attention to the grada -
tion in richness from room to room, as well as the fundamentally impersonal character of
the parade apartment of which the salon was the culminating feature. In other words, the
approach to the room advocated in this publication is contextual, yet in San Francisco it is
shown in isolation, in a museum setting. How does its new presentation, as a perfected slice
from a lost whole, function within the context of the museum galleries? To indicate just one
comparison, the newly installed galleries of the Rijksmuseum in Amsterdam include only
one furnished ‘period room’, a Haarlem salon of c. 1794–95, which however has been
preserved intact with all its furnishings and textile components (mainly of French origin).
By contrast, an Amsterdam rococo room of c. 1748 is shown empty, as its original furniture
is not known to survive (compare the Norfolk House Music Room at the Victoria and
Albert Museum, cited by Chapman and illustrated as fig. 2).

The reinstallation of the salon doré of the hôtel de la Trémoille adds a novel chapter to the
history of French period rooms in museums, not just in America but all over the world.
Hopefully the extensive documentation in this publication will stimulate debate about its
motivation and significance.

Reinier Baarsen

Annette Carruthers, The Arts And Crafts Movement in Scotland, A History, Newhaven and
London, 2013, xix + 404 pp., 169 col., 173 b. & w. illus., ISBN 978-0-300-19576-7. £60

Handsome, thoughtful and generously illustrated this wide-ranging book would not be
housed in the ‘furniture history’ section of a library. Nonetheless it contains much relevant
to the study of furniture and even more that provides an illuminating background. The
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approach to Scotland is inclusive, with attention paid to such English protagonists as
William Morris, Walter Crane, W. R. Lethaby (particularly for his clients at Melsetter, he
English, she Scottish), Alexander Fisher, Christopher Whall and Henry Wilson, as well as
the Art Workers’ Guild, Ashbee’s Guild of Handicraft and the Arts & Crafts Exhibition
Society. There are plenty of interlocking identities — John Ruskin, say, a Scot born in
London who later settled in the Lake District, or George Washington Jack, a Scot born in
New York who worked in London — and relationships: at the Old Palace of Mochrum, for
example, Robert Weir Schultz employed Ernest Gimson and Sidney Barnsley to execute
furniture (Gimson was later to work for Schultz in Khartoum and Westminster Abbey).
‘Arts & Crafts’ is a term often so loosely applied as to lose any specific meaning but Annette
Carruthers is rigorous to the extent that the later C. R. Mackintosh is excluded as far from
conforming to the Arts & Crafts ethic. If the book has a furniture hero it is Robert Lorimer
(including a humdinger of a piano for his Tennant client at Port Lympne in Kent, lavishly
painted by Phoebe Traquair), with a very different animal, George Walton, coming a
slightly distant second. Both have well established reputations. A lesser figure, Henry 
T. Wyse, was a competent practitioner in a Baillie Scott manner, but otherwise few indi -
viduals emerge. Perhaps further analysis of the products of Guthrie & Wells and Wylie &
Lochhead in Glasgow or Whytock & Reid in Edinburgh may reveal new designers. Textiles,
stained glass, metalwork, jewellery, graphic design and architecture are all generously
covered, along with well-meaning bodies such as the Edinburgh Social Union or the
Scottish Guild of Handicraft. It is a rich mix.

S. S. J.

Vanessa Brett, Bertrand’s Toyshop in Bath, Luxury Retailing 1685–1765, Wetherby (Oblong
Creative Ltd), 2014, 363 pp., 212 col., 32 b. & w. illus, 13 maps, 2 graphs. ISBN 978-0-
9575992-4-6. £48

This delightful and idiosyncratic book has at its heart the toyshop on Terrace Walk, in
central Bath, round the corner from the Abbey and between the two assembly rooms, which
was run from 1730 to 1747 by Paul Bertrand, a Huguenot whose mother was a Gribelin, and
his second wife, Mary Deards, whose father was the doyen of London toymen, with links
to Bath and Tunbridge Wells. Through family, suppliers and clientele the Bertrand shop’s
connections were ubiquitous, and Vanessa Brett has used his account at Hoare’s bank to
construct a directory of contacts, about nine hundred in all, with a close focus on twenty-
eight London suppliers, whose addresses, from St James’s to Moorfields, are revealingly
mapped. Furniture, with the freakish exception of Nicholas Le Normand’s extraordinary
feather bed (see Vanessa Brett’s article in Newsletter 193, February 2014), was not significant
in Bertrand’s business, but this book extends far beyond that alone to cover the early
eighteenth-century trade in toys — small luxury items — in general and multiple aspects
of Bath — entertainments, gambling, royal visits, lodgings, travel and freemasonry, to cite
but a few. So far only ten Bertrand invoices have emerged (the largest, to Lord Fairfax in
1741, comprises a diamond buckle at £113 and a silver tea kettle for £30 5s. 0d., no mean
sums) and only three surviving purchases, a Meissen sugar dish and a Chelsea milk jug at
Althorp and three blanc-de-chine tea-bowls (from a set of six) at Chatsworth. But a wide
range of illustrations, including trade cards, bills from other suppliers, and ‘toys’ in great
variety, fill out that picture, while others depict Bath and its activities. Dense with facts and
anecdotes, fully annotated (and with many cross-references) and indexed, and with an
extensive bibliography Bertrand’s Toyshop is a mine of insight and information.

S. S. J.
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REPORTS ON THE SOCIETY’S EVENTS

Hanover,  Thursday 29 May – Monday 2 June 2014
To mark the tercentenary of the Hanoverian Succession, the FHS travelled back to the roots
of the Georgian dynasty, visiting Hanover and its environs. The three-day study-trip was
lead and organised by Sara Heaton, Melanie Doderer-Winkler and Wolf Burchard.

The Herzog Anton Ulrich Museum
Our opening visit was to one of the oldest museums in Europe, founded in 1754 by Karl I,
Duke of Brunswick-Wolfenbüttel (1713–80), and named after his predecessor Duke Anton
Ulrich (1633–1714), but with some inherited holdings going back to the time of Julius, Duke
of Brunswick-Lüneburg (1528–89). Currently undergoing major refurbishment, the
Renaissance-revival building by Oskar Sommer (1887) lies under scaffolding and muslin;
so we were electrified to enter by the courtyard of the newest wing, built in 2010 to provide
state-of-the-art storage for prints and drawings, curatorial offices and conservation
workshops. There we were welcomed by the Director, Professor Jochen Luckhart, who
explained the works in progress and introduced us to his colleagues Dr Kerstin Grein and
Frau Ursel Gassner. Under their expert guidance — and in the luxury of two small groups
— we were able to closely inspect furniture currently in storage (in the future café) and
undergoing conservation.

Dr Grein explained that part of the collection was acquired by Duke August Wilhelm
(1662–1731), a younger son of Anton Ulrich, partly for his summer residence Schloss Salz -
dahlum and partly for his city palace in Brunswick, the so-called ‘Graue Hof’ in Brunswick.
The ‘Graue Hof’, built 1718–22, was furnished in part by Brunswick makers. Among Duke
August Wilhelm’s commissions are a remarkable group of walnut-veneered cabinets
dominated by large panels of pierced and engraved brass, loosely Bérainesque in design.
Of the nine known cabinets of this type, all dating from c. 1720–30, four are in this museum.
One that we examined closely had an internal glazed door behind the pierced brass door,
an exceptional refinement. Surprisingly, the maker of these pieces remains unidentified.

Duke Karl I, the Museum’s founder, who succeeded to the Dukedom in 1735, made a
point of promoting Brunswick manufactures, notably the beadwork factory established by
Johann Michael van Selow in the mid-1750s. A tray-top table, identified as an early work of
van Selow, was the first of several examples of his work that we would encounter during
this trip (rectangular with lobed corners on ebonized frame, the beadwork centring a parrot
among rococo scrolls and foliage).

A walnut and fruitwood marquetry cabinet, though inevitably faded, proved richly
rewarding. With figurative and architectural marquetry and applied Rococo fretwork, its
interior is lined with an early, possibly original, scenic lining paper on a pink ground. The
back of an interior drawer is signed and dated (not wholly legibly) by the Brunswick
maker, ‘. . . Von [?] Johan graden in . . . 12 Aug[?] 1766’ (taking Johann Grade’s working life
beyond the period known to Kreisel and Himmelheber, 1751–60). It is thought that this may
be a cabinet that was advertised by Grade in a newspaper advertisement in 1766.

Also made in Brunswick was the show-stopper of this part of our tour, the bureau-
cabinet covered on every surface with engraved glass plaques, culminating in the
cartouche-shaped pediment displaying the arms of Duke Karl I, guarded by obelisks at the
canted corners. Several of the plaques are signed and dated, ‘Sang fecit 1751’. Johann
Heinrich Balthasar Sang (one of a family of glass-makers) came from Weimar to Brunswick
to set up a glass factory. A few replaced mirror plates have other signatures, but the
wonderful figurative panels are all original. The glass is offset by carved giltwood elements
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(including pilaster capitals and florid bracket feet); and the interior prospect is lined with
architectural perspectives.

An Antwerp origin, however, was proposed for a remarkable seventeenth-century
marquetry cabinet — in tortoiseshell, pewter and mother-of-pearl — which features the
arms of Anton Ulrich on the writing surface. Some later interventions complicate the
question of attribution, but Dr Grein suggested the possible authorship of Hendrik van
Soest (1659–1726), on the basis of the stand’s stepped concave stretcher, the exceptional
giltwood kneeling ‘slave’ front legs, and the out-stepped structure of the desk above these
figures (although some of our party considered these features distinctly Germanic). This
piece came to the Museum only in 1910, and its earlier history is unknown.

So overwhelmed were we by these riches that we almost bypassed other treasures,
includ  ing an early eighteenth-century Brunswick (?) bureau cabinet decorated with pietre
tenere plaques and marquetry arabesques of ivory, brass and tortoiseshell. Another mas -
sive Baroque cabinet, with pietra paesina plaques, robust carved and gilt ornament, a
water colour of the Four Seasons on the door, a clock in the pediment, and fittings for an
internal revolving calendar (now missing), provoked unresolved debate as to its original
purpose.

In the conservation workshops Frau Gassner showed us the deeply researched progress
of several fascinating projects, starting with the question of how to restore the finish of two
Rococo vitrines that are to be used in the displays — the options including French-polished
shellac (as used latterly on these pieces), brushed Sandarac (with more historic justification
but vulnerable to scratching), copal varnish and mastix. Frau Gassner’s particular expertise
in lacquer conservation is currently focused on a Chinese-export cabinet (one of over 240
pieces of lacquer in the collection). First inventoried in the late eighteenth century, it is
thought to be one of a group of lacquer pieces acquired by Duke Anton Ulrich from a
French collector. Its exceptionally rare original stand, on cabriole legs, is marked in Chinese
characters with a counting rhyme (‘The heaven is black-blue, the earth is yellow’). Another
rare feature of this piece is the original Chinese finish in the interior (whereas the exterior
has been re-varnished). The radically different appearance of the cabinet top was explained
by the fact that this surface, normally out of sight, had been left undecorated in China and
was japanned in Europe.

By contrast with this cabinet targeted at the European market, an exquisite Japanese
lacquer sake bottle formed as a laughing fat Buddha, was almost certainly made for the
home market. Thought to date from the 1680s, it may have been acquired by Duke Anton
Ulrich on a visit to Holland.

Frau Gassner kept the best till last — her astonishing discoveries about a group of
Japanese white-ground ‘lacquer’ — including miniature cabinets in this collection and two
well-known cabinets at Boughton. Historians have long been mystified by the enduring
whiteness of these great rarities. The secret, we were now informed, is not in fact lacquer
but a substance made with gofun powder (crushed sea shells, usually oyster shells) bound
with animal glue. This is applied on top of a layer of paper, over Urushi lacquer, on a base
of Cedar; and the white surface is then decorated with pigments likewise bound in animal
glue. To point up the contrast, we were also shown a European japanned box of the type
sent out to Japan by the Dutch East India Company (VOC) as models for these pieces – once
also white, but now distinctly yellow. One of the Japanese boxes in the Museum has also
yellowed, though to a lesser extent, due to the later application of a European varnish. But
the finest cabinet, with doors enclosing drawers (and a label that ties it to the 1789
inventory), is virtually untouched, and the exterior remains as white as the interior
drawers.

Lucy Wood
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Städisches Museum, Brunswick
Founded in 1861 the Städtisches Museum Braunschweig is the home of one of the largest
non princely collections in Germany. Accumulated by the citizens of Brunswick, its more
than 270,000 objects cover a wide range of eighteenth-century manufacturing productions.
Having moved from Wolfenbüttel to Brunswick Duke Karl I established his court in
Brunswick and therefore had a great need for luxury goods to furnish his newly built
residence. The city palace was not completed before 1791; it was destroyed by fire in 1830,
re-built in 1841 but then once again highly damaged during the Second World War and
pulled down in the 1960s. The palace has since been rebuilt and now houses the city archive
and library as well as a shopping mall. One of Duke Karl’s concerns was to establish Johann
Michael van Selow’s ‘Corallenfabric’. Van Selow was a Dutch merchant from Amsterdam
who came to Brunswick in 1755 at the end of the Seven Years War (1756–63). He produced
table tops covered with glass pearls which were held in place by a putto in which the pearls
had been pressed in. His most frequent motive was a colourful parrot sitting in a ring
surrounded by creatively arranged rocaille motifs. Only few of these picturesque scenes
have survived, as for instance ‘Eliah in the desert’ where Selow’s art reveals his perception
of light and dark, his colour scheme and his strive to create a vivid and convincing picture
table. Although Duke Karl supported him repeatedly by allowing several loans and tax
exemptions the artist’s factory failed to flourish and was never heard of again after 1773.

In Brunswick cabinet making was highly estimated. The well known Braunschweiger
Meisterstück was a large double-door walnut armoire its front featuring an architectural
façade. Pilasters with composite capitals flank the recessed doors ejecting in elaborately
‘cushions’ with multi cantered outlines. In its centres or on other significant places
engraved ivory inlays enliven the multigrained walnut veneers. Most of the huge armoires
culminate in arched segmental bows with small pediments where Fürstenberg porcelains
or other luxury goods could be displayed.

In 1763 the lacquer manufacture of the Stobwasser family settled in Brunswick. Again
highly estimated and supported by Duke Karl I in his effort to establish a flourishing lux -
ury production in order to maintain his mercantile finance system with the idea of export -
ing luxury goods. The Stobwasser firm produced lacquer articles ranging from pipes and
snuffboxes to candle sticks to even furniture. On a wooden, metal or papier maché surface
they applied several coats of lacquer which on its most artful pieces where elaborately
painted by professional painters. From 1772 onward they successfully expanded their
premises to Berlin and worked there well into the nineteenth century. In 1812 Johann
Heinrich Stobwasser married David Roentgen’s widow Katharina Dorothea, both families
being members of the Herrnhuter Brüdergemeine. The most impressive piece is the 4.8 m
long ‘Riesenpfeife’ made for the Brunswick Smokers’ Club in 1790. The Stob wasser
production has been published comprehensively by Detlev Richter (Stobwasser: Lackkunst
aus Braunschweig, 2 vols, Munich 2009).

Henriette Graf

Schloss Richmond
Schloss Richmond is an exquisite late Baroque pavilion built between 1768–69 for Princess
Augusta Frederica (1737–1813), daughter of Frederick, Prince of Wales, and elder sister of
George III. Following her marriage to Charles William Ferdinand, Duke of Brunswick-
Wolfenbüttel, in 1764, Augusta regarded the existing residence in Brunswick as too simple
and returned to London regularly. In honour of her return to Brunswick after the birth of
her first child, a new palace was erected in the French style, later named Richmond to
remind her of native England. The maison de plaisance was designed by the court architect
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Carl Christoph Wilhelm Fleischer after Ledoux and remains the only surviving original
palace in Brunswick today. Influenced by Augusta’s taste, this summer palace is a total
symbiosis between architecture and nature. Fleischer cleverly incorporated Masonic sym -
bols of windows and doors symbolizing holiness and wisdom. Iron lanterns with the gilt
letter ‘A’ top the four pillars of the front staircase. While none of the original contents of the
pavilion survive, the architectural elements and its relationship to nature provide an
authentic backdrop and intimate decor.

Upon entering the Schloss, one is greeted by an oval entry with the gilt letter ‘A’
intertwined on an upper grill. A set of mirrored double doors reflecting the garden open
onto a large oval dining room with fluted, copper pilasters that reflect the light, reiterating
the theme of architecture and nature. The gallery is topped with a grotesque-painted frieze
and six grisailles painted roundels depicting the myth of Hercules. Past the dining room,
another circular room with three mirrored doors overlooking the garden also reflects light.
Two smaller rooms on either side of the first floor reception rooms were used as separate
wings for the Duke and Duchess.

Outside, the English landscape garden, one of the earliest in Germany, was designed by
Lancelot ‘Capability’ Brown and resembles the Royal Park of Richmond. During the
nineteenth century, the park was enlarged by Duke Wilhelm who employed the court
gardener Johann Christian Burmester. Between 1833–38, more buildings were added to the
grounds, includ  ing the ducal Villa and Williams Castle (which no longer exists), as well as
bodies of water and an island. In 1935, the palace and estate was purchased by the city of
Braunschweig.

Rebecca Tilles

Schloss Wolfenbüttel
Dr Hans-Henning Grote, Director of Schloss Wolfenbüttel, gave an introduction to the
history of the palace. The palace’s appearance, as it stands today, was shaped principally
by the Dukes Rudolf August (1627–1704), Anton Ulrich (1633–1714) and August Wilhelm
(1662–1731). It was the court architect Hermann Korb who transformed the building from
the Renaissance into the Baroque style. A bridge, richly adorned with sculptures, leads the
way to the great portal of the castle, which gives entrance to the courtyard. With its
irregular outline, the courtyard illustrates the long history of the building controlled by
alterations and adjustments.

The furniture that is on display today, was either acquired over the last decades or is on
permanent loan from the Braunschweigischen Landesmuseum, Städtisches Museum
Braunschweig, or from the collection of Prince Ernst August of Hanover.

Proceeding through the so called ‘Braune Gallerie’, named after the brown wall paneling,
we entered the apartment of the duke. The state bedchamber is furnished with a state bed
of yellow damask — a reconstruction from 1997, done after the models presented in the
engravings of Daniel Marot and based on the information in the inventory of 1736. A two-
storied cabinet veneered with walnut and with wonderful vividly engraved inlays of
pewter, merits to be mentioned. They show the coat of arms of Johann Heinrich Burckhardt
(1676–1738), a physician, polymath and passionate collector of medals and coins in
Wolfenbüttel. Dr Grote stated that is one out of seven medal-cabinets that are supposed to
have been made in Braunschweig in about 1720.

We continued our tour in the audience chamber, with canopy and audience chair, where
two guéridons with sculptures of blackamoors, larger than life, caught special attention.
These are two out of a group of four, which originally furnished the ‘Redoutensaal’ in the
south wing of Schloss Wolfenbüttel. The other two guéridons of this impressive quartet are
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on display in the Städtische Museum, where we saw them earlier that day. An Ensemble
consisting of a richly carved and gilded mirror (late seventeenth century), a gilded table
(about 1700) and a set of normal sized blackamoor-guéridons, was brought together in
order to evoke a triade garniture, such as depicted by the designs of Pierre le Pautre. The
ceiling with its lavish acanthus leaf stucco work was executed in 1690 by Giacomo Perinetti
after designs by Johann Oswald Harms. The stucco work frames a fresco depicting the
allegory of the triumph of the House of Guelph over the city of Brunswick, by the court
painter Tobias Querfurt.

Through the Ante-chamber we left the apartment of the duke, to visit the duchess’s
rooms. In the first antechamber a huge dinner table decorated with porcelain from the
Fürsten berg manufactory commemorates the manufactory’s foundation in 1747 under the
reign and protection of Duke Karl I. The panel-work of the walls was made by the court
carpenter Rasehorn in 1736–37. Originally it was placed in another room in the duchess’s
apartments and it was only in 1955 that the panelling was restored and installed in this
room. An even more precious paneling was to be seen in the next room, the so-called
‘Intarsienkabinett’ (inlay cabinet): a very fine panelling bearing mythological scenes, cut
out in ivory and inlayed in dark wood ground. This magnificent panelling, supposed to
have been manufactured in Brunswick, was placed originally in the so-called ‘Boisierten
Kammer’ (wooden panelled cabinet), before it was taken to the castle in Braunschweig in
the early twentieth century. In 1955 the decision was taken to place it in this room rather
than to reinstall it on its original site in the palace, which still exists in its cubature and with
its original ceiling. The furnishing of the second antechamber evokes the common use of
ante chambers as places for the divertissements: a very refined table with hollowed game
board draws the line to ducal gambling. In the audience chamber of the duchess, decorated
with canopy and audience chair, we terminated our tour through the castle of
Wolfenbüttel.

Christiane Ernek

The Gardens and Schloss Herrenhausen
After having had the joy of attending a fantastic fireworks display put together by the
English team at the international fireworks competition at Herrenhausen on Saturday
night, Dr Ronald Clark, Director of the gardens, gave an insightful tour of the palace and
the garden on Sunday Morning. On our way to the gardens, we passed the light and
transparent foyer-building, designed by Arne Jacobson and erected in 1966 to provide the
additional space for the adjacent Galeriegebäude — the only architectural survival from the
seventeenth century, the main palace having been destroyed during the Second World
War, and having been reconstructed in 2013.

The eventful history of the estate of Herrenhausen dates back to the first half of the
seventeenth century. In 1638 the Duke of Braunschweig-Lüneburg gave order to erect a
farm in the small village of Horinghusen, at the edge of the new residence of Hanover,
which was to provide food for the court. Duke Johann Friedrich (1625–79), inspired by 
the Italian Villa-culture, transformed the farm into a country residence and in 1666 changed
the name into Herrenhausen, which means quite literally translated — ‘estate of the
master’.

In 1652 Lorenzo Bedogni received the commission to transform the farm buildings into a
manor house. During the reign of Duke Ernest Augustus (1629–98) — George I’s father and
since 1692 Elector of Hanover — the most important era in the history of Herrenhausen
began. In 1690 Ernest Augustus commissioned new designs for the estate, which included
a huge central palace, surrounded by four symmetrical arranged buildings. The building of
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one of these smaller houses, intended as an orangery, was begun in 1694, but already
during the erection, plans were changed. At the very centre of the building, a huge hall,
with lavish fresco-painting, was installed; the frescoes depict scenes from the history of
Aeneas, the mythological Trojan hero. Busts of Roman emperors were placed in front of the
walls. Electress Sophia’s cabinets at the west end of the gallery are real gems. Dr Clark
stressed that the interiors of the gallery building are the only preserved examples of late
seventeenth-century interior decoration in Hanover, unfortunately without any of the
original furniture.

After the visit of the gallery-building, we headed through the geometrical parterre,
designed for the display of orange trees, to the famous and in its original state preserved,
baroque garden theatre, which was erected by Brand Westermann from 1689 to 1692. The
design of the stage, with its measurements of 62 × 58 metres shows a strong central
perspective, which is enhanced by the arrangements of pyramids of yew trees (taxus
baccata) and gilded lead sculptures. In 1690 the theatre was embellished with 27 gilt-lead
sculptures, copies of famous antique figures that were erected in the garden theatre; of
these 17 are still preserved. The Herrenhausen group of giöt-lead sculptures is a very rare
and important example of this once common practice of decorating baroque garden
theatres.

Leaving the garden theatre behind, we proceeded wandering through the great parterre,
following the trail of Electress Sophie who had a great impact on the garden and who
boosted the expansion. The garden was the stage and the background for intense debates
between Sophie and the philosopher and polymath Gottfried Wilhelm Leibniz, who
developed in Herrenhausen one of his central theories of the infinite individuality of
nature.

After Elector Ernest Augustus death in 1698, his son, the later King George I, immortal -
ised himself by building a huge fountain. The project began in 1700, but only in 1721 the
technique and water supply had been engineered in such a way as to produce a fountain
of 36 meters high. Reaching this altitude, the Herrenhauser fountain was the highest in
Europe and therefore served as a very distinct statement of George I supremacy. The cost
of this masterpiece of engineering — we could witness an exclusive and very impressive
demonstration of the fountain — was about 220 000 Reichstaler.

Returning from the great parterre, we could admire the south façade of the only recently
reconstructed palace. It was the early nineteenth century classical palace, as it was to be
seen until the destruction in 1943, that served as role model for the reconstruction: In 1819
Georg Ludwig Friedrich Laves (1788–1864), the important court architect and Hanoverian
equivalent to John Nash, transformed the quite old-fashioned baroque building, into a
modern palace with a new neo-classical facade. This renovated palace offered state of the
art modern comfort in the interiors, appropriate to accommodate royal visitors, such as
George IV in 1821. Today, the faithfully reconstructed classical façade comprises a modern
conference and event centre, including a lecture theatre, seminar rooms and museum space
designed by JK Architekten, Hamburg.

Christiane Ernek

Schloss Marienburg
Following an excellent lunch in the Schlossküche in Herrenhausen we boarded the coach
bound for Marienburg which lies about 19 miles to the south of Hanover.

Our excellent guide, a young archaeology graduate, had an intimate knowledge of the
history of the family and the building. We passed through the Entrance Hall with its
vaulted ceiling brilliantly painted with allegories of the arts into the Great Hall, unfinished
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since its almost complete Hase interior was removed by Oppler in 1865. The undoubted
highlight of the entire visit was the magnificent silver furniture displayed here, the most
important suite of eighteenth-century silver furniture to survive. The suite comprises of
two distinct groups: two pier tables, two mirrors and two pairs of guéridons; and an
armchair and four side chairs. The tables, mirrors and stands were made for George I’s
younger brother Duke Maximilian of Brunswick-Lüneburg (1666–1726). Made of cast and
embossed silver over a wooden core, the suite was made in Augsburg in 1725–26. The
tables bear the maker’s mark of Johan Ludwig Biller II and the guéridons the mark of
Johannes Biller. They were displayed in Duke Maximilian’s State Bedchamber in his palace
in Vienna. Such magnificence was probably a deliberate repost to his brother George I, with
whom he had a difficult relationship. Duke Maximilian died shortly after the set was
completed and the furniture was purchased by his cousin William Duke of Brunswick-
Wolfenbüttel (1662–1731) for the so-called ‘Graue Hof’ in Brunswick. In 1729–30 the Duke
extended the set with a silver armchair and four side chairs made by the Augsburg
silversmith Philipp Jakob VI Drentwett. However, like Duke Maximilian he was not able to
enjoy the pieces for long as he died the following year. Both sets of furniture were then
acquired by George II to furnish the Leineschloss in Hanover, the main city residence of the
Electors of Hanover. In the 1730s William Kent supplied designs for magnificent silver
chandeliers and girandoles that were made for the Leineschloss by the Hanoverian court
silversmith. During the early nineteenth century Napoleonic wars all the silver furniture
was spirited out of Hanover — via a tortuous route through St Petersburg — to England
for safekeeping. It was displayed together with the silver furni ture made for Charles II and
William III in the State Rooms at Windsor Castle. Follow ing the defeat of Napoleon in 1815,
the furniture returned to Hanover. It remained in the Leineschloss until 1866 when, with
the rest of the King of Hanover’s silver, it followed him into exile in Austria. Kent’s silver
chandeliers and girandoles were subsequently sold in the 1920s. Two are now Anglesey
Abbey, Cambridgeshire and another is in the MFA, Boston. The tables and mirrors are
masterpieces of Augsburg silversmithing. The tables incorporate the cast silver arms of
Duke Maximilian supported by fully three dimensional lions and the white horse of
Hanover. The arms incorporate the order of the Golden Fleece, presented to the Duke by
Emperor Charles VI following his conversion to Catholicism. The table tops are richly
embossed with reliefs showing Hercules Performing the Task of Atlas and The Fall of Phaeton. 

Unlike the major state rooms, the Queen’s apartments were largely completed before her
exile. They are richly decorated with oak panelling, parquetry floors and elaborate ceilings
and chimney pieces. Most of the furniture is neo-gothic of excellent quality made of oak by
local makers. The exception is the Parisian neo-rococo suite veneered with rosewood that
sits somewhat incongruously in the Queen’s Salon. Perhaps the most magnificent interior
is the Queen’s Library, a beautiful neo-gothic space with a central umbrella vault. Of
particular note was the superb wrought iron work. Following coffee and delicious cake in
the Castle restaurant we were shown around the exhibition the Path to the Crown. This
commemorates the tercentenary of the union of the British and Hanoverian crowns and
also the bicentenary of the creation of the Kingdom of Hanover. The exhibition culminated
in a rare showing of the Hanoverian Crown Jewels: the Royal Crown, the Sceptre and the
Bridal Crown, designed for King Ernest Augustus and bequeathed by him to his son King
George V of Hanover.

Matthew Winterbottom
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Landesmuseum, Hanover
The Tercentenary Exhibition: The Hanoverians on Britain’s Throne

Our visit was led by Dr Christoph Vogel, the Project Curator, and Dr Katrin Herbst, Head
of Education with much additional information from our tour leader Wolf Burchard.

The first room provided background on why the personal union came about, including
a family tree illustrating how the Hanoverians had a claim on the British throne. From a
furniture perspective we were very interested to see the travelling chair of Gottfried
Wilhelm Leibniz (1646–1716), Newton’s German counterpart who helped the Hanoverian
dynasty ascertaining its claim to the British Crown. After close examination it was agreed
by the group that the structure was likely to be original but that the beautiful leather,
ornamented with exotic birds and fruits, might have been a later addition

The next room focused on the reign of George I. A familiar sight was the crown used at
George I’s coronation with all the stones removed, except for the glass aquamarine jewel
forming its orb. It is usually shown at the Tower of London; remarkably this is first instance
of an item from the crown jewels being loaned for exhibition outside the United Kingdom.
We were fascinated to learn about the German chancellery, which was set up in St James’s
Palace to run Hanover. Communications between the two locations took around a week,
and because (unlike Britain) Hanover was an absolute monarchy, the government had to
consult on everything. This gave rise to 5,000 letters being sent every month, of which
copies were retained in both Hanover and London, a few of which were on display. Panels
loaned from the V&A in London and beautifully painted by Sir James Thornhill in 1705
served as studies for George I’s state coach, a project arranged by Sir Ralph Montague. A
pair of late seventeenth century silver sconces from 1660–70, wrought by the Hamburg
Goldsmith Friedrich Kettwyck, was especially impres sive. George I inherited them from
his mother and probably used them to decorate the Hanover city palace, the Leineschloss.
A comparison of maps of Hanover and London demonstrated perfectly how the latter city
was approximately 50 times bigger than the former; George I must have been overwhelmed
when he first arrived in 1714.

We moved into the following room, which examined the reign of George II. Here were
five pieces of silver furniture, of the same suite as that we saw on the previous day at
Schloss Marienburg, created in 1725/26 in Augsburg. We spent some time discussing
whether a medal cabinet lent to the exhibition by the current Prince of Hanover, mounted
with a spectacular carved and gilded cypher of George II, was German or English, it was
agreed that overall of the carved sections were rather rudimentary and probably not
English, increasingly the likelihood of a Hanoverian origin. The design by William Kent for
the silver chandelier, executed by the Hanoverian court Goldsmith Balthasar Friedrich
Behrens which had been displayed in the recent exhibition on Kent, was immediately
recog nisable, representing an interesting instance of George II commissioning a British
designer to create fittings for use in his German residences.

Next was the reign of George III, which commenced with Joshua Reynolds’s study for
George III’s wedding to Queen Charlotte; an unsuccessful attempt by the artist to court the
king’s patronage. The king’s exquisite golden egg cooker from the Royal Collection made
by John Edwards III in 1804 was placed appropriately close to James Gillray’s print show -
ing Temperance Enjoying a Frugal Meal featuring the king eating an egg, and satirizing his
famously Spartan tastes. There was a substantial section on William Hershey, George III’s
Astronomer, who enjoyed the very active support of the king; it was he who announced
first new planet to be discovered in the solar system since antiquity, and the display
included his impressive telescope. In a possible first for the FHS, we examined a table
designed to generate electricity, an Electrophorus, from 1780, invented by a professor at the
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University of Göttingen, Georg Christoph Lichtenberg, who was also elected as a Fellow of
the Royal Society in 1793. It was a great pleasure to see the spectacular service of silver
ordered by George III in the 1770s from Robert-Joseph Auguste, which was later added to
by the Hanoverian silversmith Peter Franz Bunsen, now more usually to be found at
Waddesdon Manor in Buckinghamshire. The service was for use exclusively in Hanover
should the king happen to visit, which he never did. This meant that unlike all of the
eighteenth century royal silverware that stayed in the Royal Collection, it escaped the
extensive later gilding campaigns of George IV. It was fascinating to learn how, when
threatened with invasion by Napoleon in 1803, the service was evacuated from Hanover to
London using a circuitous route via St Petersburg.

The exhibition concluded with sections on the later reigns of George IV and William IV.
Especially useful was a display on the Hanover city palace the Leineschloss, which
although crucially important to the history of the city and its ruling family, could not
feature on our trip itinerary owing to it being destroyed in the Second World War. We
learnt that it was a considerable complex, featuring an opera house, a kitchen tower, a
theatre, a huge staircase and two piano nobile with numerous reception rooms, each deco -
rated with exquisite stuccowork. A portico was eventually added in 1830 by the
Hanoverian Court Architect Georg Ludwig Friedrich Laves (1788–1864), who regularly
travelled to London to persuade the king to execute his ambitious architectural plans for
Hanover, with limited success. Its design was highly reminiscent of the portico that
famously featured on the facade of George IV’s London residence Carlton House. A chair
created by Laves for the city palace of Viceroy Adolphus, Duke of Cambridge, displayed
his consummate skill at a furniture designer. The total destruction of the Leineschloss in the
Second World War clearly remains a lamentable loss to Hanover to this day.

We ended our visit by expressing our thanks to the organisers of the exhibit, especially
Dr Vogel, for allowing us to view it under such favourable circumstances, and congratula -
ting them on their very great achievement.

David Oakey

Residenzschloss Celle
The final visit of the weekend was to Celle, the seat of the Dukes of Brunswick-Lüneburg
from 1378, and former capital of the principality of Lüneburg. The Schloss was expanded
by Frederick the Pious from 1471–78 and the castle chapel was consecrated in 1485. In the
late seventeenth century, the last Duke of Celle, George William, raised the height of the
exterior façade adding gables and domed towers. He created new state apartments and the
Court Theatre with its domed ceiling over the auditorium.

The Celler Schloss chapel interior dates to 1565–67; it was entirely refurbished by Duke
William the Younger. It is the earliest complete ecclesiastical Protestant building in
Germany, remarkably surviving the Thirty Years’ War. The chapel walls are decorated with
a cycle of religious paintings by the Antwerp artist Martin de Vos (1532–1603). The ducal
pew is raised above the congregation and retains its original glazing, framed by a Renais -
sance pediment and columns. The Duke was perceived as intermediary between God and
the members of the local community. Conservation problems caused by humidity have
been resolved by creating a glass screen through which we viewed the interior. In the
accompanying exhibition, The Hanoverians on Britain’s Throne, a model of the Celler Stadt
Kirche (city church) was accompanied by engravings of the plan and interior.

We visited the Baroque state rooms of Duke George William who lived here until his
death in 1705, when the court moved to Hanover. Duke George William was visited at Celle
by William III in 1698, who had made him a Knight of the Order of the Garter in 1690. The
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exhibition for the Hanoverian tercentenary included a display of insignia of the Order of
the Garter including the 1701 appointment of George Lewis, later George I, as Knight, with
the Statutes of the Order and its original seal and silver-gilt seal box. Portrait busts of
William III (and Mary II) by Verhulst record this visit. The state rooms are distinguished by
magnificent baroque plasterwork in deep relief by the Italian stuccadore Tonielli. The bed
alcove was well preserved, although the original state bed does not survive. Duke George
William was a constant visitor to Venice where he acquired elaborate glass chandeliers
which still adorn the apartments.

The Celler Schoss Court Theatre is one of the few surviving Baroque theatres in Northern
Germany and reflects Duke George William’s interest in Italian opera and the Commedia
del’Arte. It was built between 1670 and 1675 and altered in the 1770s, and adapted for use
as a banqueting hall. On exhibition were plans of the auditorium of the Opera House in
Hanover, including theatrical waterworks and wind machines and set designs by J. O.
Harms (1643–1708) for the production of Enrico Leone in 1696 by Augustino Steffani. Early
operatic productions included Orlando Generoso in 1700.

The town of Celle welcomed Huguenot refugees from France and the current exhibition
included a plan of Celle showing the provision made for the new Huguenot settlements in
the late seventeenth century. We also saw a portrait of Eleanore d’Olbreuse, George I’s
Huguenot mother-in-law. We walked through the French Gardens, laid out by Duke
George William in the late seventeenth century as a baroque park to the designs of French
horti culturist Henri Perronet, and later converted to an English landscape garden.

A special display of silver made during the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries by
master craftsmen from the local guild of gold and silversmiths included pieces recently
bought back to Celle from the Yves Saint Laurent Collection sold at Christie’s Paris in 2009
(they were sold from Celle in the 1920s). The pieces include a ‘Homage Goblet’ of the City
of Lüneburg, marked by Nicholas Siemens, 1645 (YSL lot 201); a silver-gilt flagon, made in
Hamburg, by Jürgen van Hagen, 1659; an Augsburg table fountain, 1638–41; another silver
and silver-gilt Hamburg table fountain decorated with figures emblematic of the Four
Elements, marked by Evert Kettwyck, 1628–43 (YSL lot 207); and a fourfold goblet, marked
by Christoph Uder, for the town of Osterode, 1649 (YSL lot 210). This important group of
silver was written up by Lorenz Seelig (‘Huldigungspräsente der Herzöge von Braun -
schweig und Lüneburg’. Patrimonia 350 (Niedersächsische Landesmuseen Braunschweig,
2010), cat. nos 5, 9, 15). On 27 October 2014 the Silver Society hosted a lecture at the London
Society of Antiquaries by Juliane Schmieglitz-Otten on this spectacular silver with the title
‘Out of the darkness into the light: early baroque homage gifts to the House of Hanover’.
Ecclesiastical silver included a communion cup and paten, 1658, marked by Peter van Lohe
with the initials of Duke George William, from the parish church in Hanover. The com -
munion cup has a rare fistula or silver drinking straw attached.

From 1772 the Celler Schloss was occupied by Caroline Matilda, daughter of Frederick,
Prince of Wales, who married the Danish King Johann Friedrich when she was 17, but was
banished following her affair with a doctor at the Danish Court. She died three years later
of scarlet fever. The Schloss was used as a summer residence for the Kings of Hanover in
the nineteenth century. The principal staircase was redesigned in 1839–40 by Georg
Ludwig Friedrich Laves (1788–1864), who also refaced Schloss Herrenhausen for George
IV. He became the principle administrator of buildings to the Hanoverian Court. This
grand access to the Baroque state rooms is embellished with statues of members of the
Guelph dynasty including the founder Henry the Lion (1129–95).

Furniture included an early eighteenth-century armoire; another dating from 1720, inlaid
with pewter, ivory and ebony and a Baltic style writing desk c. 1780, of walnut, mahogany,
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rosewood and maple. A late eighteenth century mahogany pier set was embellished with
applied giltwood cresting and frieze to the mirror and table.

Tea in an attractive Celle town square adorned with climbing roses provided a welcome
conclusion to a fascinating visit.

Tessa Murdoch

Hatfield House,  Tuesday 10 June 2014
The Furniture History Society had a marvellous visit to Hatfield House on a glorious June
day. The great power house of the Cecils came into their possession when James I swapped
it for Theobalds in 1607. The house took four years to rebuild and, apart from the west wing
which was rebuilt after a fire, remains largely unaltered. We were privileged to tour both
the public and private sides with Vicki Perry, Head of Archives and Collections, as our
guide.

The house has had relatively little furniture history study compared to other stately
homes of similar stature. Anthony Coleridge wrote up the furniture in the Burlington
Magazine in 1967 and the Beckwith & France commission was published in the 2005 Furni -
ture History Society journal. However, given the scale of the archive (which we only just
dipped into), further studies would undoubtedly be fruitful. It would appear that in the
1770s and 1780s, when the Winter Dining Room and Library were created, the picture
collection was reframed in elegant neo-classical gilt frames with guilloche or anthemion
borders. Was this part of an extensive re-arrangement for the 1st Marquess of Salisbury and
his famous Tory hostess wife? The Beckwith & France commission, which includes the
leather-backed mahogany dining-chairs in the Van Dyck Room and giltwood open arm -
chairs in King James’s Drawing Room, may have been part of this episode.

Among the furniture highlights that we saw were a Flemish cabinet once owned by
Charles I and Sir John Millais (the conclusion drawn was that it was probably a nineteenth-
century antiquarian piece of furniture incorporating sixteenth-century elements); a cham -
ber organ supplied by John Haan in 1609 and decorated by Rowland Bucket with arabesque
panels; two Queen Anne pier glasses, one with a mirrored border and one with a gilt-gesso
frame below an Apollo mask cresting; Queen Anne’s giltwood coronation chair and foot -
stool, made by Thomas Roberts in 1702; a beautiful George III ormolu-mounted mar quetry
serpentine commode, related to one at Ham House, whose authorship has eluded scholars
thus far; and the Chase Desk commissioned in 2005 by the present Marquess of Salisbury
and executed in superb marquetry by Rupert Brown of Dorset, depicting a boar hunt at
Cranborne (another Cecil family seat).

Our attention was by no means restricted to the furniture as there are plenty of other
treasures to admire: the celebrated Rainbow portrait of Elizabeth I; a collection of rock
crystal objects which belonged to Robert Cecil, builder of the house; a mosaic portrait of
Robert made in Venice in 1608; Reynolds’ fabulous full-length of the (1st) Marchioness of
Salisbury; and some plum papers from the archive including Lord Burghley’s draft for
Mary, Queen of Scots execution warrant showing his crossings out and amendments.

We are very grateful to Vicki Perry and Elizabeth Jamieson for jointly leading the day
and to our hosts, the Marquess and Marchioness of Salisbury for giving us free access to
both the public and private parts of the house.

James Peill
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The Oliver Ford Trust and Tom Ingram Memorial Fund (FHS
Grants)
In line with one of its roles — the promotion of interior design — the Oliver Ford Trust has
generously expressed the desire to sponsor a place on each FHS study weekend or foreign
tour. Applicants should either be a student with a particular interest in interiors or a junior
museum professional. Application from non FHS members will be considered. Grants will
be awarded by the Tom Ingram Fund, to which candidates should apply.

The Tom Ingram Memorial Fund makes grants towards travel and other incidental
expenses for the purpose of study or research into the history of furniture (a) whether or
not the applicant is a member of the Society; (b) only when the study or research is likely
to be of importance in furthering the objectives of the Society; and (c) only when travel
could not be undertaken without a grant from the Society. Applications towards the cost of
FHS foreign and domestic tours and study weekends are particularly welcome from
scholars. Successful applicants are required to acknowledge the assistance of the Fund in
any resulting publication and must report back to the FHS Grants Committee on
completion of the travel or project. All enquiries about grant applications should be
addressed to Clarissa Ward, Secretary FHS Grants Committee, 25 Wardo Avenue, London
SW6 6RA, or email grants@furniturehistorysociety.org.

The FHS Grants Committee now meet quarterly to consider all grant applications, either
for independent travel/incidental expenses for the purpose of study of study or research,
or for participation in FHS foreign and UK study trips. Completed application forms
should be submitted, with current Curriculum Vitae, so that they can be considered at the
following meetings: a) 10 March, b) 10 June, c) 10 September or d) 10 December. Applicants
will be informed of all decisions by the end of the applicable month.

Copy Deadline
The deadline for receiving material to be published in the next Newsletter is 15 December.
Copy should be sent, preferably by email, to Matthew Winterbottom: matthew.
winterbottom@ashmus.ox.ac.uk or posted to Matthew Winterbottom, Department of
Western Art, The Ashmolean Museum, Beaumont Street, Oxford OX1 2PH.
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